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BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Vermeer UCITS ICAV (the “ICAV”) is an open-ended umbrella type Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicle, registered on 10 May 2016 with 
registration number C154687. The ICAV is an umbrella fund with variable capital and segregated liability between sub-funds, authorised by the 
Central Bank of Ireland as an investment company pursuant to the UCITS Regulations. The sub-funds of the ICAV comprise one or more Classes 
of Shares. Each Class of Share representing interests in a fund comprising a distinct portfolio of investments that are invested in accordance with 
the investment objectives and policies applicable to such sub-fund. 
 
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE 
 
A sub-fund of the ICAV may have different investment objectives and invest in different types of investment instruments. A sub-fund will invest 
in accordance with the investment objectives and policies applicable to such sub-fund as specified in the relevant Supplement to the Prospectus. 
 
The present Sub-Fund of the ICAV is: 
 
Vermeer Global Fund 
Vermeer Global Fund (the “Sub-Fund”) commenced operations on 5 December 2016.  
 
Its objective is to generate long-term capital growth by investing primarily in a diversified portfolio of exchange listed global equities that have 
capital and dividend growth potentials. The Sub-Fund may also invest in Financial Derivative Instruments (“FDIs”). 
 
MINIMUM INVESTMENT 
 
Below is the minimum initial subscription and minimum holding of each class of the Sub-Fund: 
 

 
Class 

 
Currency 

 
Distribution Type 

Minimum Initial Subscription and 
Minimum Holding 

Class A Sterling Accumulating £3 million 

Class A1 US Dollar Accumulating $5 million 

Class A2 Sterling Accumulating £20 million 

Class A3 Sterling Distributing £20 million 

Class B Sterling Accumulating £5,000 

Class B1 US Dollar Accumulating $7,500 

Class C Sterling Distributing £5,000 
Class D Euro Accumulating €100 

Class X* Sterling Accumulating £100 

Class X1* Sterling Distributing £100 

 
* Subscriptions for Class X Shares and Class X1 Shares will only be accepted from investors who have entered into a separate agreement with 
the Vermeer Investment Management Limited (the “Investment Manager”) providing for the management of the investors’ assets on a 
discretionary basis and payment of an investment management fee under the terms of such agreement. 
 
SUBSCRIPTIONS & REDEMPTIONS 
 
The opening offer period for Share Classes A, A1, A2, A3, B, B1, C, D, X and X1 shares were made at an Initial Offer Price of $100 for those Share 
Classes denominated in US Dollars, £100 for those Share Classes denominated in Sterling and €100 for those Share Classes denominated in Euro. 
Share Class D was launched and Share Classes Z and Z1 were removed during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
Following the Initial Offer year, Shares in Classes A, A1, A2, A3, B, B1, C, D, X and X1 are available at the Net Asset Value per Share of each Class. 
 
Requests for the redemption of Shares signed by the Shareholders are sent to Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator”) in a 
prescribed form. Requests for redemption received prior to the Dealing Deadline for any Business Day or such other Business Days as the 
Directors determine (“Dealing Day”) are processed on that Dealing Day. Any requests for redemption received after the Dealing Deadline for a 
Dealing Day are processed on the next Dealing Day. 
 
PRICES OF CLASSES OF SHARES  
 
In accordance with the provisions of the ICAV’s Prospectus, the prices for buying and selling of the Classes of Shares of the Sub-Fund are 
calculated by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share. The Net Asset Value of the active Share of Classes A, A3, B, B1, C, X and X1 are published 
on every Dealing Day.  
 



  VERMEER UCITS ICAV        

 

 
 

 5 
 

INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT - VERMEER GLOBAL FUND 
 
Vermeer Investment Management Limited – Investment Manager’s Report 2021 
 
2021 Performance & Dividend Information 
 
2021 turned out to be another very strong year for the global equity market, led by stellar returns from the US and taking global equities to a 
return for the year of 23%. The Vermeer Global Fund also posted another solid year of growth, rising by over 16%. This was somewhat 
disappointing in the context of the benchmark, but nonetheless a healthy absolute return, generated by the solid performance of many of our 
companies successfully navigating their way through the considerable challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Director’s declared a dividend of £1.0324 per share for the Class C distributing shares, a 
dividend per share of £1.2946 for the Class X1 shares, and a dividend of £1.5775 for the Class A3 shares. All figures are rounded to 4 decimal 
places.  
 
Review of 2021 & Outlook 
 
It has been nearly two years since COVID-19 began to take a dominant hold on all of our macro-economic thinking on which we base our portfolio 
construction. As we head into 2022, we still see no reason to alter this viewpoint. The performance of our portfolio is likely to be dictated by the 
speed at which the world can get to a new normal and how economic performance will be dictated by inflation, ongoing supply chain dislocation 
and the central bank policy responses that follow these issues. 
 
Once again, US equities dominated global equity market performance as the S&P 500 posted a remarkable gain of over 28% that followed the 
rise of 18% in 2020 and more than doubling the index over a three-year period. The Stoxx 600 in Europe also posted a very healthy gain of nearly 
26% in local currency. Japanese equities had a disappointing year comparably, with the Topix rising by just under 13%, whilst in the UK the FTSE 
100 rose by around 18%. Despite the weak relative performances of the UK and Japan, a number of individual companies posted very strong 
returns. In Japan, Sony and Toyota both returned over 35% with Shimano and Keyence rising by over 25% in local currency and in the UK, BP, 
Oxford Instruments and Treatt all had excellent years, rising by 36%, 33% and 57% respectively. With respect to currency, although it was another 
volatile year for Sterling, over the twelve-month period it was little changed versus the Dollar, whilst the weakness of the Yen did have a 
significant negative impact on Fund performance as we remain strongly committed to our overweight stance to the Japanese market.  
 
US equities were once again led higher by the strong performance of the mega cap technology names. Microsoft has long been the largest 
position in our portfolio and once again delivered an excellent performance, rising by over 52%, a move justified by the consistently excellent 
quarterly results announced by the company. It was also a great year for Apple and Alphabet, whilst Amazon’s performance was far more muted, 
as the company continued to invest a colossal amount of capital into future development. This was a decision that led us to increase our 
investment in the company in the final few months of 2021. We initiated a position in Nvidia in April 2021, which performed very well and despite 
being very expensive, remains very well positioned for the future. Oracle became a top ten position in our portfolio and delivered great results 
in December 2021, sending shares materially higher, only to give back all their gains following the announcement of a deal to acquire healthcare 
IT solutions company Cerner for $30billion in cash. Oracle’s successful drive into the cloud for enterprises is set to accelerate top line growth 
materially in the coming years, which we ultimately believe will continue to drive a re-rating in the stock. Oracle shares continue to trade at a 
material discount to cloud software peers and is also supported by a progressive dividend policy and an aggressive share buyback plan.  
 
We have already noted some of the strong performances that led our portfolio in 2021, which included Apple, Microsoft and Nvidia, and there 
were many other notable performances, including ASML. Shares in ASML, the world’s leading lithography machine manufacturer for the semi-
conductor industry, rose just under 80% in 2021 as it saw demand surge for its equipment, enabling the company to forecast double digit top 
line growth as far out as 2030. ASML is a notable winner from the accelerated digital transformation that has occurred post the COVID-19 
outbreak and is also a beneficiary of the notable reshoring that is taking place in the technology industry.  
 
Evoqua Water Technologies had a very strong year, rising by 73% as it delivered consistent results and saw its shares materially re-rate. 
Performance has been helped by a combination of demand for infrastructure related investment following the passage of the widely anticipated 
$1trillion infrastructure bill in the US and continued investor drive into ESG related investments that has seen the water sector significantly re-
rate over the last few years. Evoqua now has a market capitalisation of $5.6billion so remains relatively small but has the scope to grow strongly, 
helped by industry tailwinds and via acquisition. This was highlighted by its recent acquisition of Mar Cor Purification, a leading manufacturer 
and servicer of medical water, commercial and industrial solutions in the US and Canada, which generates $180million of revenue and $27million 
of EBITDA and will cost Evoqua $196million to acquire. 
 
Novo Nordisk has been part of our healthcare portfolio for several years and performed well in 2021, rising by over 75% as demand for diabetic 
and obesity products continues to grow strongly. The initial performance of Wegovy, Novo’s new obesity product that it launched in the latter 
half of 2021 helped the shares post very strong gains and it was therefore no surprise when the stock tumbled 13% in one day in early December 
when the company was forced to announce manufacturing delays caused by a third-party provider which will slow the pace of growth for the 
product in the short term. The stock price did regather its poise into the year end to finish higher for the month of December 2021. Novo has 
also enjoyed strong tailwinds from its diabetes franchise and the possibility that it may have a product that could help with the treatment of 
Alzheimer’s. Novo has materially outperformed the struggling pharma sector in recent years, and we will be keeping a close eye on developments 
for Wegovy in the coming months as this product is perceived as pivotal to the performance of the company in the near term. 
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT - VERMEER GLOBAL FUND (CONTINUED) 
 
Disney shares had a difficult year. After peaking in early 2021 at above $200, the stock price fell back to just above $150 as the Disney+ streaming 
service saw subscriber growth slow and the pace of the reopening for the Parks division and cinemas continued to be impeded by the COVID 
pandemic. The recent release of the latest Spiderman movie, which is co-owned by both Disney and Sony, once again highlighted the incredible 
value of great content that has been consistently generated from the performance of Marvel, Lucas Films and Pixar, all acquired by Disney for a 
total combined value of just $15billion and complementary to the original Disney franchise. Whilst it remains unclear as to the trajectory of near-
term subscriber growth for Disney+, or the pace of reopening for Parks and cinemas and indeed for the continued high cost of acquiring sports 
rights, which could all lead to further earnings volatility, we continue to see Disney as a materially undervalued asset. We believe that should 
Disney shares continue to struggle in the coming months, this may attract the attention of deep pocketed mega cap companies who are trying 
to build content platforms and could correctly identify Disney as a one-off opportunity to create a step change in trajectory. 
 
Nihon M&A Center had a notably poor year, capped off in December 2021 by the announcement of revenue recognition issues which saw shares 
tumble; we subsequently reduced the size of our position. We still believe that Nihon represents a very exciting way to play the long-term 
structural growth theme of smaller family-owned companies without a succession plan in Japan being acquired as part of an ongoing industry 
consolidation. However, we prefer to run with a smaller position whilst these accounting issues are resolved and will take a more proactive 
decision once a clearer picture emerges. Nihon shares declined by 18% in 2021 having been one of the best performing stocks in our portfolio in 
2020 and since our original investment in late 2016. 
 
Ocado had a tough year in share price terms in 2021 but continues to develop strongly as a company as it expands the number of global customer 
fulfilment centres and strengthens ties with a number of global food retail companies. Ocado shares declined 26% in 2021 but are still materially 
higher than where they began 2020 and before the outbreak of COVID-19. In the latter part of the year investors became fixated on a legal 
patent dispute between Ocado and AutoStore. In December, a US judge ruled that three AutoStore patents were invalid and that Ocado does 
not infringe on a fourth. Although this case is ongoing and could still provide a significant investment hurdle, we believe that the confidence 
companies like Kroger, a major US food retailer and an excellent company which is pursuing a substantial online development programme, are 
showing in Ocado highlights the opportunity that the company has in global robotics logistics for retail. In Ocado Retail in the UK, its joint venture 
partnership with Marks & Spencer, is performing well but is currently suffering from capacity constraints which should ease in 2022 as new 
customer fulfilment centres come online. We also believe that M&S may buy Ocado out of the existing JV, releasing substantial capital for Ocado 
to invest and allowing it to concentrate on the global rollout into more territories as the world continues to transition to a higher level of online 
food retailing.  
 
Zimmer Biomet shares lost ground in 2021 as COVID-19 continued to materially impact the trajectory of recovery in elective surgeries, leading 
to a disappointing year for earnings growth. The company continues to execute its strategy well but needs to see a reduction in COVID-19 related 
hospitalisations to regain momentum. Whilst it is too early to be confident regarding the ongoing developments related to the pandemic, we 
are hopeful that the latest highly virulent but potentially less dangerous Omicron strain will accelerate the pace at which elective surgery can 
recover. A move back to its structural growth path along with a potential surge in demand over the next few years as the industry tries to catch 
up on the backlog of procedures that have not been able to occur over the last two years will also help drive a recovery in the shares.  
 
Outlook for 2022 
 
We anticipate that the stellar performance from equities of 2020 and 2021 will not likely be repeated but that global markets will still be able to 
post gains despite considerable headwinds and uncertainties. The Federal Reserve is planning to reduce liquidity via tapering and attempt to 
begin the process of normalising interest rates with three rate hikes now forecast for 2022 and 2023. Inflation is going to be carefully watched 
in 2022. Monetary authorities initially believed that the rise in inflation seen since the middle of 2021 would prove to be transitory, but it has in 
fact turned out to be far stickier than they initially anticipated. The rate of inflation has been exacerbated by a combination of a tight labour 
market and supply chain issues which have caused significant industry dislocation. The latest FOMC meeting minutes released in early January 
clearly highlighted a change in stance from the Fed, which now acknowledges that inflation issues need to be tackled more aggressively.  
 
The performance of the US Treasury market will continue to be pivotal to the market’s performance and framing whether a growth or value style 
are in vogue. We are running with a continued balance in our portfolio, reflecting opportunities we see in all parts of the market, whether it be 
the continued strength of high-quality growth companies that keep delivering, value stocks such as oils and banks, which look extremely cheap, 
as well as “reopening” trades like Disney and Zimmer. As mentioned earlier, both these stocks struggled in 2021 and would be real beneficiaries 
of a more normal economic environment which we certainly hope will be the case if the spread of the Omicron variant does not lead to a 
significant increase in the rate of hospitalisations.  
 
Despite the disappointing performance of Japanese equities and the Yen in 2021, we remain optimistic about the prospects for this market in 
2022 and are still looking to add to our existing overweight position. Within our eight-stock portfolio we have a balance between long term 
structural growth companies like Keyence, Shimano and Obic, combined with the deep value opportunity in Toyota and the recently added 
position in Olympus. Olympus has been the beneficiary of an activist investor and in December announced another value creating portfolio 
transition with the planned sale of another non-core division allowing the company to continue to focus on its world leading position in the 
endoscopy market. We agree with management’s assessment that they are only partially through their transition and see the opportunity for 
strong revenue growth and significant margin expansion. We see Olympus as a typical example of the opportunities in Japan as activism is an 
increasing theme for value creation in a market containing many undervalued companies and will be a beneficiary of Asian economic reopening 
in a more normalised environment.  



  VERMEER UCITS ICAV        

 

 
 

 7 
 

INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT - VERMEER GLOBAL FUND (CONTINUED) 
 
Overall, we are cautiously optimistic for the year ahead and believe there to be many individual company opportunities to create value even if 
overall index level performance is materially more muted than in the last few years.  
 
Environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) policy 
 
The Sub-Fund does not meet the criteria for Article 8 or 9 products under the EU Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (“SFDR”) as it’s an 
Article 6 fund as the investments underlying the Sub-Fund do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic 
activities. 
 
Tim Gregory 
Senior Fund Manager 
Vermeer Investment Management 
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Vermeer (UCITS) Global ICAV 
Directors’ Report 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
 

The Board of Directors present their report and financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021. 

 
Principal Activity 
Vermeer UCITS ICAV (or the “ICAV”) is an open-ended umbrella type Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicle with variable capital and 
segregated liability between sub-funds that was approved by the Central Bank of Ireland on 10 May 2016 with registration number C154687. 
The ICAV presently has one Sub-Fund, Vermeer Global Fund (or the “Sub-Fund”) which commenced operations on 5 December 2016. 
 
Investment Objective 
The ICAV’s principal objective is to achieve superior long-term capital growth on behalf of the Sub-Fund. 

 
The objective of the Sub-Fund is to generate long-term capital growth by investing primarily in a diversified portfolio of exchange listed global 
equities that have attractive growth potentials. 
 
Future developments in the business of the ICAV 
The ICAV will pursue its investment objectives as set out in the Prospectus. 
 

The Investment Manager, Promoter and Distributor 

The ICAV’s Investment Manager, Promoter and Distributor is Vermeer Investment Management Limited (the ”Investment Manager”). The 

Investment Manager was incorporated as a private limited company with share capital incorporated in England and Wales with registration 

number 09081916 whose registered office is at 130 Jermyn Street, St James’s, London SW1Y 4UR, United Kingdom. The Investment Manager is 

regulated and authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom (“FCA”). 

 

The Administrator, Transfer Agency and Registrar 

The Administrator, whose registered address is set out on page 3 of the annual report, was incorporated in Ireland on 26 January 2007 as a 

private limited liability company with unlimited duration. The Administrator is authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. The 

Administrator is responsible for the day to day administration of the ICAV and is also the transfer agent and registrar of the ICAV.  The register 

of shareholders in the ICAV can be inspected at the registered office of the Administrator.  

 

The Depositary 
The ICAV has appointed Société Generale S.A. (Dublin branch) as Depositary of its assets pursuant to the Depositary Agreement.  

 

The Manager 

The ICAV has appointed Link Fund Solutions (Ireland) Limited as Manager on 9 December 2021. 

 

Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

Details of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the ICAV and the exposure of the ICAV to market price risk, interest rate risk, 

currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk are set out in the ICAV’s Prospectus and in note 18 to these financial statements. 

 

Transactions involving Board of Directors 
James Rowsell purchased Nil (2020: Nil) and sold 46 (2020: 63) Class A shares of the Sub-Fund, and Timothy Gregory purchased and sold Nil 
(2020: Nil) Class C shares of the Sub-Fund during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, James Rowsell held 
27,696 Class A shares (2020: 27,742), and Timothy Gregory held 6,650 Class C shares (2020: 6,650). Other than as disclosed above, there were 
no other transactions involving Board of Directors and the Company Secretary during the financial year ended 31 December 2021.  
 
Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors (the “Directors”) who specifically held office during the financial year to the date of this report are listed below:  
James Rowsell 
Timothy Gregory 
Damian Roddy (Resigned on 9 April 2021) 
Ian Murphy* 
Frank O’Riordan* (Irish) (Appointed on 1 January 2022) 
 
* Director independent of the Investment Manager. 
 
Remuneration policy 
The Investment Manager ensures that the Remuneration Policy (the “Policy”) is designed to avoid conflicts of interest between the firm’s and its 
clients’ interests and to ensure that its employees are not only remunerated based on quantitative commercial criteria, but also on criteria that 
take into account compliance with regulations and the quality of services provided to clients. The Policy is consistent with and promotes sound 
and effective risk management and is in line with the business strategy, objectives, values and interests of the fund(s) it manages and their 
investors. It includes a description as to how remuneration and benefits are calculated and identifies those individuals responsible for awarding 
remuneration. 
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Vermeer (UCITS) Global ICAV 
Directors’ Report (Continued) 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Remuneration policy (continued) 
It does not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk profiles, rules or instruments constituting the ICAV and does not impair 
compliance with the ICAV’s to act in the best interest of the investors of the fund(s) it manages. The Remuneration Policy includes fixed and 
variable components of salaries and discretionary pension benefits. Compensation decisions for employees are made annually in January 
following the end of the performance year. The compensation model includes a basic salary, which is contractual, and a discretionary bonus 
scheme. Although all employees are eligible to be considered for a bonus, there is no contractual obligation to make any award to an employee 
under its discretionary bonus scheme. There is a well-defined pay-for-performance philosophy and compensation programmes which are 
designed to meet some objectives: 

• Attract, retain and motivate employees capable of making significant contributions to the long-term success of the business;  

• Control fixed costs by ensuring that compensation expense varies with profitability; and 

• Discourage excessive risk-taking.  
 

In exercising discretion to award a discretionary bonus, these factors may be taken into account in addition to any other matters which become 
relevant to the exercise of discretion in the course of the performance year. 
 
Results and State of Affairs 

The Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021 and the results for the financial year as shown in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income are on pages 19 and 20. 

 
Connected person transactions 
The Directors are satisfied that: (i) there are arrangements in place, to ensure that the obligations set out in Regulation 43(1) of the Central Bank 
UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions with connected persons; and (ii) transactions with connected parties entered into during the 
year complied with the obligations set out in that regulation. 
 
Note 10 to these financial statements details related party transactions during the financial year. Details of fees paid to related parties and 
certain connected persons are also set out in note 10. 

 

Significant Events During the Financial Year 
 
Director Damian Roddy resigned as of 09 April 2021. 
 
On 9 December 2021, the Sub-Fund issued an updated supplement, and the material changes were the addition of Class D for investment and the 
removal of Class Z and Z1 for investment.  
 
Effective 9 December 2021, the Sub-Fund has appointed Link Fund Manager Solution (Ireland) Limited as a Manager of the Sub-Fund. 
 
There were no other significant events during the financial year. 

 

Significant Events After the Financial Year 

On 24 February 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine, and while the ICAV has no direct exposure to these two markets, this may have a negative impact 
on the economy and business activity globally, including in the countries in which the ICAV invests into. The Directors assess that this could 
adversely affect the financial performance of the ICAV and its investments, or could have a significant impact on the industries in which the ICAV 
participates, and could adversely affect the operations of the Investment Manager, the ICAV and its investments. However, as it is difficult to 
quantify the risks and future impact to the ICAV, the Directors and the ICAV delegates are currently monitoring the situation to mitigate any risks 
which may evolve. 

Frank O’Riordan was appointed as Director of the ICAV on 1 January 2022. 

There were no other significant events after the financial year end. 
 
Auditors 

Grant Thornton were appointed as independent auditors to the ICAV and have expressed their willingness to continue in office in accordance 

with section 125 (1) of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015, as amended (the “ICAV Act”).   
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Vermeer (UCITS) Global ICAV 
Directors’ Report (Continued) 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Distributions 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the distribution amount paid to the C class shareholders was GBP 41,018 based on a dividend 
of GBP 1.032 per share (GBP 6,880 via Allfunds, GBP 4,764 via Platform Securities, GBP 507 via Aviva Client, GBP 10 via Hargreaves Lansdown, 
GBP 426 via Pershing Nominees Ltd, GBP 10,196 via Transact Nominees Ltd ,GBP 7 via Quilter life and pensions Limited, GBP140 via Rensburg 
client Nominees Ltd ,GBP 233 via Sterling ISA Mangers (Nominees) Ltd, GBP 5,466 via Fundsettle EOC (Nominees) Ltd and GBP12,389 via FIL 
Nominees.) A3 class shareholders was GBP 166,298 based on a dividend of GBP 1.557 per share (GBP 138,149 via Allfunds, GBP 595 via Guernroy 
Limited, GBP 15,830 via Clearstream Banking S.A. and GBP 11,724 via Pershing Nominees Ltd.) and X1 class shareholders was GBP 48,308 based 
on a dividend of GBP 1.29 per share (GBP 48,308 via FundSettle). These distributions were paid out 30 days after the end of the financial year. 
 
Going Concern 

The Board of Directors believe that the ICAV has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 

reason, they have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
Statement of Corporate Governance 
(a) General Requirements 
The ICAV is subject to the requirements of the ICAV Act. The European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable 
Securities) Regulations, 2011, as amended (the “UCITS Regulations”) and the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 
48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”). The ICAV is 
subject to corporate governance practices imposed by: 
(i) - the ICAV Act, which may be obtained from the Irish statute book website at www.irishstatutebook.ie and are available for inspection at  the 
registered office of the ICAV; 
(ii) - the Instrument of Incorporation of the ICAV (the “Instrument”) which is available for inspection at the registered office of the ICAV and 
(iii) - The Central Bank in their Central Bank UCITS Regulations and Guidance Notes which may be obtained from the Central Bank website at: 

https://www.centralbank.ie/regulation/industry-market-sectors/funds/ucits/guidance 
 
In addition to the above, the ICAV has adopted the Irish Funds Corporate Governance Code for Collective Investment Schemes and Management 
Companies (the “IF Code”). The Directors has put in place a framework for corporate governance which it believes is suitable for an investment 
company with variable capital and which enables the ICAV to comply voluntarily with the requirements of the IF Code, which sets out principles 
of good governance and a code of best practice. 
 
(b) Board of Directors 
In accordance with the ICAV Act, and the Instrument unless otherwise determined by an ordinary resolution of the ICAV in general meeting, the 
number of Directors may not be less than two. The Directors currently comprises four Directors. Details of the current Directors are set out in 
the “Corporate Information” section on page 3, under the heading “Directors”. 
 
The Directors have delegated management of the ICAV to certain delegate service providers. These delegate service providers are set out in the 
“Corporate Information” section on page 3. 
 
Board materials, including a detailed agenda of items for consideration at each Board meeting, minutes of the previous meeting and reports 
from various internal and external stakeholders, including delegate service providers, are generally circulated in advance of the meeting to allow 
all Directors adequate time to consider the material. 
 
(c) Internal Control and Risk Management Systems in Relation to Financial Reporting 
The Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control and risk management systems of the ICAV in relation 
to the financial reporting process. The Directors have entrusted the administration of the accounting records to the Administrator. The Directors, 
through delegation to the Administrator, have put in place a formal procedure to ensure that adequate accounting records for the ICAV are 
properly maintained and are readily available, and includes the procedure for the production of audited annual financial statements for the ICAV. 
The audited annual financial statements of the ICAV are prepared by the Administrator and presented to the Directors for approval, prior to 
applicable filing such as with the Central Bank of Ireland. 
 
From time to time, the Directors will examine and evaluate the Administrator’s financial accounting and reporting routines, and will monitor and 
evaluate the Independent Auditors’ performance, qualifications and independence.  
 
 
 
 
 
 





Depositary’s Report to the Shareholders of Vermeer UCITS ICAV 

We have enquired into the conduct of the ICAV for the financial period ended 31 December 2021 in 

our capacity as Depositary to the ICAV. 

This report including the opinion has been prepared for and solely for the shareholders in the ICAV as 
a body, in accordance with the Central Bank of Ireland (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 and 
the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) (the 
‘UCITS Regulations’), as amended and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept 
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown. 

Responsibilities of the Depositary 

Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in Part 5 (34), of SI. No. 352 of 2011 and Part 12 (114) SI. 
420 of 2015. One of those duties is to enquire into the conduct of the ICAV in each annual accounting 
period and report thereon to the Shareholders. 

Our report shall state whether, in our opinion, the ICAV has been managed in that period, in 
accordance with the provisions of the ICAV’s Instrument of Incorporation (IOI) and the UCITS 
Regulations. It is the overall responsibility of the ICAV to comply with these provisions. If the ICAV has 
not so complied, we as Depositary must state why this is the case and outline the steps which we have 
taken to rectify the situation. 

Basis of Depositary Opinion 

The ICAV has been managed, in all material respects, during the financial year in accordance with the 
provisions of its Instrument of Incorporation (IOI) and the UCITS Regulations, including specifically the 
provisions relating to the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the ICAV. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the ICAV has been managed during the period, in all material respects: 

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the ICAV
by its’ Instrument of Incorporation (IOI) and the UCITS Regulations; and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Instrument of Incorporation (IOI).

On behalf of the Depositary, 

 
 

        28 April 2022
Société Générale S.A. (Dublin Branch)
______________________________ 
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Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Vermeer UCITS ICAV (or the “ICAV”), which comprise the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in 
Net Assets, the Statement of Cash Flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and the related 
notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is 
Irish law and International Financial Reporting Standards (or “IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
In our opinion, the ICAV’s financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS of the assets, liabilities and financial position of 
the ICAV as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the financial 
year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-
management Vehicles Act 2015 (as amended) (or the “ICAV Act”) and European Communities 
(Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 and the 
Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective 
Investment in Transferable Securities) (Amendment) Regulations 2019”. 
 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (or “ISAs 
(Ireland)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
‘responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the ICAV in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard for Auditors (Ireland) issued by the Irish 
Auditing and Accountancy Supervisory Authority (or “IAASA”), and the ethical pronouncements 
established by Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied as determined to be appropriate in the circumstances 
for the ICAV. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Director’s use of going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Based on the work we have 
performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report. 

 
Other information 
Other information comprises information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and the auditor’s report thereon.  Other information included in the financial statements includes the 
Directors Report, the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Investment Manager’s Report and the 
Statement of Depositary’s Responsibilities & Depositary’s Report and the Schedule of Investments.  The 
Directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
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Other information (continued) 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If we identify such material inconsistencies in the financial statements, we are required to determine whether 
there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by the ICAV Act  
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.  
Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion, the Directors’ report has 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the ICAV Act. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the ICAV Act we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions specified by section 117 of the ICAV Act have not been made. We have no 
exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 
 
Responsibilities of those charged with governance for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and for 
such internal controls as they determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the ICAV’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intends to liquidate the ICAV or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the ICAV’s financial reporting process. 
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements 
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes their opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The auditor will also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for their opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal controls. 
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Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements (continued) 

 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the ICAV’s internal controls. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If they conclude that a material uncertainty exists, they are required to draw attention in the 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify their opinion. Their conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of the auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the ICAV 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a matter that achieves a true and fair view. 
 

The auditor communicates with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal controls that may be identified during the audit. 
 
The purpose of our audit and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
This report is made solely to the ICAV’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 120 of the Irish 
Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 (as amended). Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the ICAV’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the ICAV and the ICAV’s members as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
John Glennon  
For and on behalf of  
Grant Thornton 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm 
13 – 18 City Quay 
Dublin 2   
Ireland    
  
Date: 28 April 2022  
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PORTFOLIO STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 - VERMEER GLOBAL FUND  
 

  VERMEER GLOBAL FUND AS AT 31 December 2021 
 

            

   Number of shares   Fair Value     % of Net Assets  

    Security    GBP     (%)  

    Equities – Long            

  Canada        

  Cameco Corp   26,198  422,242   0.77  

  Total Canada (2020: 1.40%)   422,242   0.77  

          

  Denmark        

  Novo-Nordisk A/S-B 18,993  1,578,098   2.89  

  Total Denmark (2020: 3.32%)   1,578,098   2.89  

          

  France        

  Schneider Electric SA 5,086  737,395   1.35  

  Total France (2020: 1.24%)   737,395   1.35  

          

  Germany        

  Deutsche Bank AG 77,898  721,547   1.32  

  Linde Plc 4,147  1,066,820   1.95  

  Rational AG 895  677,477   1.24  

  Varta AG 5,100  490,921   0.91  

  Total Germany (2020: 7.13%)   2,956,765   5.42  

          

  India        

  Divi's Laboratories Ltd. 7,548  350,985   0.64  

  Havells India Ltd. 21,706  301,407   0.55  

  HDFC Bank Limited 20,576  302,569   0.55  

  Hindustan Unilever Ltd. 12,290  288,316   0.53  

  Shree Cement Ltd. 804  215,673   0.40  

  Total India (2020: 2.84%)   1,458,950   2.67  

          

  Ireland        

  Trane Technologies Plc 5,784  863,539   1.58  

  Total Ireland (2020: 1.62%)   863,539   1.58  

          

  Italy        

  Davide Campari-Milano SPA  98,995  1,069,845   1.96  

  Ferrari NV 4,078  779,979   1.43  

  Moncler SPA 16,533  889,821   1.63  

  Total Italy (2020: 6.35%)   2,739,645   5.02  

          

  Japan        

  Keyence Corporation 3,800  1,763,753   3.23  

  Nihon M&A Center Inc 23,500  425,703   0.78  

  Obic Co., Ltd CMN 5,000  693,521   1.27  

  Olympus Corp 47,700  811,556   1.49  

  Shimano Inc 3,200  630,026   1.15  

    Shiseido Co Ltd 12,100  498,368   0.91  

  Sony Corporation 11,200  1,041,053   1.91  

  Toyota Motor Corp 109,000  1,473,730   2.70  

  Total Japan (2020: 14.28%)   7,337,710   13.44  

          

  Luxembourg          

  Befesa SA 11,524  652,978   1.20  

  Total Luxembourg (2020: 0.00%)   652,978   1.20  

          

  Netherlands        

  ASML Holding NV 2,116  1,257,148   2.30  

  Total Netherlands (2020: 2.90%)   1,257,148   2.30  
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PORTFOLIO STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 - VERMEER GLOBAL FUND (CONTINUED) 
 

  VERMEER GLOBAL FUND AS AT 31 December 2021 
 

            

   Number of shares   Fair Value     % of Net Assets  

  Security   GBP     (%)  

  Equities – Long (Continued)        

  Singapore        

  DBS Group Holdings Limited 41,300  739,384   1.35  

  Total Singapore (2020: 1.52%)   739,384   1.35  

          

  Sweden        

  Ericsson LM B Shs 86,885  708,250   1.30  

  Total Sweden (2020: 1.37%)   708,250   1.30  

          

  Switzerland        

  Roche Holding AG-Genusschein (SW) 5,340  1,640,514   3.00  

  Sika AG – REG 3,720  1,146,146   2.10  

  Total Switzerland (2020: 5.51%)   2,786,660   5.10  

          

    United Kingdom        

  Aveva Group Plc 17,153  583,888   1.07  

  BP Plc 671,555  2,219,489   4.07  

  Compass Group Plc 39,613  654,011   1.20  

  Cranswick Plc 21,955  812,774   1.49  

  Ocado Group Plc 34,258  574,849   1.05  

  Oxford Instruments Plc 27,410  720,883   1.32  

  Pets At Home Group Plc 147,967  688,047   1.26  

  Treatt Plc 71,180  914,663   1.67  

  Total United Kingdom (2020: 12.67%)   7,168,604   13.13  

          

  United States        

  Alphabet Inc - Class A 461  986,946   1.81  

  Amazon.com Inc 565  1,392,183   2.55  

  Apple Inc 15,576  2,043,918   3.74  

  Burlington Store 2,451  528,001   0.97  

  Caterpillar Inc 4,399  672,073   1.23  

  Danaher Corp 3,346  813,529   1.49  

  Evoqua Water Technologies Co 28,528  985,578   1.81  

  Henry Jack & Associates Inc 6,492  801,137   1.47  

  Intuitive Surgical Inc 2,274  603,790   1.11  

  JP Morgan Chase & Co 4,148  485,394   0.89  

  Microsoft Corp 9,663  2,401,611   4.40  

  Newmont Corp 13,822  633,491   1.16  

  NIKE Inc 4,814  592,927   1.09  

  Nvidia Corp   3,016  655,510   1.20  

  Oracle Corp  18,826  1,213,284   2.22  

  Pinnacle Financial Partners 8,565  604,462   1.11  

  Target Corp 6,625  1,133,085   2.08  

  United Parcel Service Inc 9,003  1,426,029   2.61  

  Varonis Systems Inc  11,726  422,698   0.77  

  Walt Disney Co 7,864  900,129   1.64  

  Zimmer Biomet Holdings Inc 9,105  854,788   1.56  

  Total United States (2020: 34.12%)   20,150,563   36.91  

          

    Total equities – Long   51,557,931   94.43  
            

  Total Investments (2020: 96.27%)   51,557,931   94.43  

          

    Net current assets   3,040,109   5.57  
            

    Net assets   54,598,040   100.00  
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PORTFOLIO STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 - VERMEER GLOBAL FUND (CONTINUED) 
 

  ANALYSIS OF TOTAL ASSETS (UNAUDITED)        

     GBP   % of Total Assets   
           

    Transferable securities admitted to an official stock exchange on a regulated market 51,557,931   93.75   

  Cash at bank 3,217,495   5.85  

  Other assets 218,098   0.40  
        

        

    Total Assets 54,993,524   100.00   
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
 Vermeer Global Fund Vermeer Global Fund 

 

Notes 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 
   GBP GBP 

Income    

Dividend income 2 592,408 340,837 

Interest income 2 - 1,079 

Net gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4 6,468,720 5,266,225 

Net foreign exchange loss  (19,697) (7,434) 

Rebate income 10 110,712 64,524 

Other income  - 1,490 

Total investment gain  7,152,143 5,666,721 

    

Expenses    

Investment management fees 10 (183,715) (118,025) 

Manager fees 10 (110) - 

Directors’ fees 10 (37,117) (4,886) 

Administration fees 11 (52,200) (43,407) 

Depositary fees 13 (55,039) (40,334) 

Audit fees 17 (11,939) (12,883) 

Legal fees  (15,342) - 

Transaction costs 2 (38,914) (25,706) 

Interest expenses  (691) - 

Other expenses 7 (38,773) (41,063) 

Total operating expenses  (433,840) (286,304) 

    

Gain from operations before withholding tax  6,718,303 5,380,417 

    

Withholding tax  (65,456) (46,475) 

    

Gain from operations after withholding tax  6,652,847 5,333,942 

    

Gain attributable to holders of participating shares  6,652,847 5,333,942 
 

Gain and losses arise solely from continuing operations. There were no gains or losses other than those included in the Statement of Compressive 
Income. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on page 23 to 41 form part of the financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF PARTICIPATING SHARES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED  
31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on page 23 to 41 form part of the financial statements. 

 Vermeer Global Fund Vermeer Global Fund 

 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended 

31 December 2020 

 GBP GBP 

Net assets attributable to holders of participating shares at the start of the financial 
year 37,859,694 21,852,790 

   

Issue of participating shares 19,437,670 15,266,753 

   

Redemption of redeemable shares (9,096,547) (4,420,583) 

   

Distributions (255,624) (173,208) 

   

Gain attributable to holders of participating shares 6,652,847 5,333,942 

   

Net assets attributable to holders of participating shares at the end of the financial 
year 54,598,040 37,859,694 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 Vermeer Global Fund Vermeer Global Fund 

 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 

  GBP GBP 

Cash flow from operating activities   

Gain attributable to holders of participating shares 6,652,847 5,333,942 
   
Adjustment for:   
Dividend income (592,408) (340,837) 
Withholding tax 65,456 46,475 
Interest expense 691 - 
Interest income - (1,079) 

Cash flow provided by operating activities before working capital changes  6,126,586 5,038,501 

   
   

Net increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (15,110,959) (15,531,241) 

Net (increase)/decrease in due from investment manager (19,512) 15,938 

Net (increase) in prepayments (3,405) - 

Net increase in investment management fees payable 15,593 16,276 

Net (decrease)/ increase in administration fees payable (1,947) 3,281 

Net increase/(decrease) in depositary fees payable 1,515 (7,264) 

Net increase/(decrease) in directors’ fees payable 4,344 (2,425) 

Net increase in audit fees payable 1,615 4,237 

Net increase/(decrease) in legal fees payable 2,998 (1,334) 

Net increase in other fees payable 14,135 21,197 

Cash used in operating activities  (8,969,037) (10,442,834) 

Dividend received 524,521 291,186 

Interest paid (691) - 

Interest received - 1,079 

Net cash used in operating activities (8,445,207) (10,150,569) 
 

Cash flow from financing activities   

Proceeds from issue of participating shares 19,393,572 15,489,911 

Payments on redemption of participating shares (9,093,355) (4,420,583) 

Distributions (173,208) (197,485) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 10,127,009 10,871,843 
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,681,802 721,274 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 1,535,693 814,419 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 3,217,495 1,535,693 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on page 23 to 41 form part of the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. Background Information 
 
Vermeer UCITS ICAV (or the “ICAV”) is an open-ended umbrella type Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicle, registered on 10 May 2016 with 
registration number C154687. The ICAV is an umbrella fund with variable capital and segregated liability between sub-funds, authorised by the 
Central Bank of Ireland as an investment company pursuant to the UCITS Regulations. The sub-funds of the ICAV can comprise one or more 
Classes of Shares. Each Class of Share representing interests in a sub-fund comprises a distinct portfolio of investments that are invested in 
accordance with the investment objectives and policies applicable to such sub-fund.  
 

The initial Sub-Fund of the ICAV is Vermeer Global Fund (or the “Sub-Fund”) commenced operations on 5 December 2016 with shares in classes 
A, A1, A3, B, B1, C, D, X and X1. Share Class D was launched and Share Class Z and Z1 removed during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. 
 

The ICAV’s Investment Manager is Vermeer Investment Management Limited (the “Investment Manager”). The Investment Manager was 
incorporated in England as a limited liability partnership on 11 June 2014 with registered number 09081916. The Investment Manager is regulated 
and authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom (“FCA”). Link Fund Solutions (Ireland) Limited was appointed Manager 
of the ICAV. 
 

Investment objective and strategy 
The Sub-Fund’s investment objective is to generate long-term capital growth by investing primarily in a diversified portfolio of exchange listed 
global equities that have attractive growth potentials.  
 
2. Accounting policies 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation and statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRS Interpretations 
Committee as adopted by the EU and those parts of the ICAV Act applicable to ICAVs reporting under IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
and the European Communities Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities Regulations 2011, as amended (the “UCITS 
Regulations”), and the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) UCITS Regulations 2019 (the “Central Bank UCITS 
Regulations”).  
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires the Directors to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. It also requires the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on the 
Directors best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.  
 

The comparative figures presented in the Statement of Financial Position relate to the previous financial year ended 31 December 2020. The 
comparative figures included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of 
Participating Shares and Statement of Cash Flows relate to financial year ended 31 December 2020. 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation 
of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
2.2 Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires the Directors to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the ICAV’s accounting policies. The Directors believes that the 
estimates utilised in preparing these financial statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are disclosed in the accounting policies below.  
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards effective 1 January 2021 

 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16) 
The amendments address reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the effects of changes to contractual cash flows or hedging 
relationships arising from the replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate. The amendments provide practical 
relief from certain requirements in IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 relating to: 
– changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities; and 
– hedge accounting.  
 
The amendment is effective from 1 January 2021 and the Sub-Fund has adopted the amendment and it has not resulted in any change to the 
presentation of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

2. Accounting policies (Continued) 
 

2.2 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (Continued) 
 

New or revised accounting standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

The standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective are disclosed below, except for those standards which, in 
the opinion of the Board of Directors, will clearly not impact the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund intends to adopt these standards, where applicable, 
when they become effective but none are expected to have a material impact on the Sub-Fund.  
 

Description 
Effective for accounting 

period beginning on or after 

Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3 1 January 2022 

Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract – Amendments to IAS 37 1 January 2022 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Subsidiary as a first-time Adopter 1 January 2022 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities 1 January 2022 

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2023 
 

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Financial instruments  
 

i) Classification 
In accordance with IFRS 9, the ICAV has designated its investments into financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss category. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
The Sub-Fund has designated all of their investments upon initial recognition as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. The 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the risk management and investment strategies of the Sub-Fund, as set out in 
the Sub-Fund’s supplement to the Prospectus. 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost  
Financial assets that are classified as “financial assets at amortised cost” include cash and cash equivalents , dividend receivables, subscription 
receivable, prepayments and due from investment manager. 
 

Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit or loss include distributions payable, redemption payable and all other payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

 

ii) Recognition 
All standard purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised using trade date accounting, the day that the Sub-Fund commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. From this date any gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities are 
recorded through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Regular way purchases, or sales, are purchases and sales of financial assets/liabilities 
that require delivery of the asset or settlement of the liability within a time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market 
place. 
 

iii) Measurement 
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value (transaction price) plus, in case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 
Transaction costs on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately. 
 

iv) Fair value measurement principles 
The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market prices at the Statement of Financial Position date without any deduction 
for estimated future selling costs. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The net asset value of the Sub-Fund for 
valuation purposes is calculated in terms of the Prospectus by using closing market prices, which approximate the exit price, to value investments. 
The ICAV recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the financial year during which the change has occurred. 
 
v) Derecognition 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where: 
- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
- The ICAV has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 

without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 
- Either (a) the ICAV has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the ICAV has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 
 

The ICAV derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 



  VERMEER UCITS ICAV        

 

 

 25 
 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

2. Accounting policies (Continued) 
 
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 
(b) Participating Shares 
All participating shares issued by the Sub-Fund provide the investors with the right to require redemption for cash at the value proportionate to 
the investor’s share in the Sub-Fund’s net assets at the redemption date. In accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments-Presentation (or “IAS 
32”), such instruments give rise to a financial liability for the present value of the redemption amount. Redemptions payable represent monies 
payable to investors after the financial year end for Shares redeemed prior to the financial year-end. The amount of redemptions payable at 31 
December 2021 was GBP 3,192 (31 December 2020: GBP Nil).  
 

(c) Offsetting financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position if, and only if, there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. There is no offsetting agreement on the Sub-Fund. 
 

(d) Foreign currency translations 
The functional currency of the ICAV is Sterling (“GBP” or “£”), as the Directors have determined that this reflects the ICAV’s primary economic 
environment. The presentation currency of the ICAV is also GBP. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign currency 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to GBP at 
the foreign currency closing exchange rate ruling at the Statement of Financial Position date.  
 
Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that 
are measured at fair value are translated to GBP at the foreign currency exchange rates ruling at the dates that the values were determined. 
Foreign currency exchange differences relating to investments at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments are included 
in gains and losses on investments. All other foreign currency exchange differences relating to monetary items, including cash are presented in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

Foreign exchange gains and losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised together with other changes in fair value. 
Included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income item ‘Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)” is net foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary 
financial assets and financial liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

(e) Distribution policy 
In accordance with the Sub-Fund’s supplement, there will be no distributions in respect of Share Classes A, A1, A2, B, B1, D and X unless otherwise 
decided by the Directors. Accordingly, income and capital gains arising in respect of Share Classes A, A1, A2, B, B1, D and X, and the net income 
from Class A3, C, and X1 after distributions will be re-invested and reflected in its Net Asset Value of each Share Class. 
 

(f) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises cash at bank and cash held with the Depositary. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash. Cash held for the Sub-Fund is held by Société Générale S.A. (Dublin Branch). 
 

(g) Expenses 
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
 

(h) Bank interest income 
Bank interest income is accrued on a receipts basis. 
 
(i) Transaction costs 
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. 
An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.  
 
(j) Dividend income 
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within dividend 
income when the Sub-Fund’s right to receive payments is established and can be reliably measured. Income is shown in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income net of any imputed tax credits and presented gross of any withholding taxes deducted at source. 
 
(k) Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
This item includes changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and excludes interest and dividend income and 
expenses. 
 
Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using the First-In, First 
Out (‘FIFO’) method. Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial assets for the financial year. 
 
(l) Subscriptions receivable 
Subscriptions receivable represent monies to be received from investors for the purchase of Shares and for which Shares have already been 
issued at year-end. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

2. Accounting policies (Continued) 
 
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 
(l) Subscriptions receivable (Continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2021, there were subscriptions receivable of GBP 148,351 (31 December 2020: GBP 104,253). 
 
3. Share Capital 
 
The share capital of the ICAV is €2.00 divided into 2 subscriber shares of €1.00 each and 5,000,000,000,000 Shares of no par value init ially 
designated as unclassified shares each having the rights appearing in the Instrument of Incorporation. The minimum issued share capital of the 
ICAV is 2 subscriber shares of €1.00 each and 5,000,000,000,000 Shares of no par value. Subscriber shares do not entitle the holders thereof to 
any dividend and on a winding up entitle the holders thereof to receive the amount paid up thereon but do not otherwise entitle them to 
participate in the assets of the ICAV. 

The Directors have the power to allot Shares in the capital of the ICAV on such terms and in such manner as they may think fit in accordance with 
the Instrument of Incorporation, the UCITS Regulations, the requirements of the Central Bank and the ICAV Act. Without prejudice to any special 
rights previously conferred on the holders of any existing Shares or Class, any Share in the ICAV may be issued with such preferred, deferred or 
other rights or restrictions, whether in regard to dividends, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the Directors may from time to time 
determine. 
 

The Shares shall be divided into such sub-funds and may be further divided into such Classes as the Directors may from time to time determine 
and such sub-funds and Classes shall have such names or designations as the Directors may from time to time determine. Where the Directors 
determine to divide the Shares into sub-funds, each sub-fund shall have segregated liability. 

On or before the allotment of any Shares, the Directors shall determine the Class or Sub-Fund in which such Shares are designated. All monies 
payable in respect of a Share (including without limitation, the subscription and redemption monies and dividends in respect thereof) shall be 
paid in the currency in which the Share is designated or in such other currency or currencies as the Directors may determine either generally or 
in relation to a particular sub-fund or Class. 

There was no currency hedging on any share classes during the financial year. 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 for the Sub-
Fund: 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class A Class A 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year 60,732 27,806 
Subscriptions 58,824 35,822 
Redemptions (30,591) (2,896) 

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year 88,965 60,732 

NAV per share as per financial statement GBP204.36 GBP175.82 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV GBP204.36 GBP175.91 

 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class A2 Class A2 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year - 3,531 
Subscriptions - 1,130 
Redemptions - (4,661)  

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year - - 

NAV per share as per financial statement - - 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV - - 

 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class A3 Class A3 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year 93,468 107,089 
Subscriptions 24,565 38,029 
Redemptions (12,617) (51,650) 

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year 105,416 93,468 

NAV per share as per financial statement GBP152.18 GBP132.01 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV GBP152.18 GBP132.08 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Share Capital (Continued) 
 
 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class B Class B 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year 44,537 18,857 
Subscriptions 12,835 30,504 
Redemptions (27,099) (4,824) 

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year 30,273 44,537 

NAV per share as per financial statement GBP184.26 GBP159.00 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV GBP184.26 GBP159.08 

 
 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class B1 Class B1 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year 10,000 10,569 
Redemption  (569) 

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year 10,000 10,000 

NAV per share as per financial statement USD172.72 USD150.53 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV USD172.72 USD150.64 

 
 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class C Class C 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year 14,279 11,626 
Subscriptions 29,841 3,366 
Redemptions (4,389) (713) 

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year 39,731 14,279 

NAV per share as per financial statement GBP191.31 GBP165.97 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV GBP191.31 GBP166.06 

 
 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class X Class X 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year 7,512 - 
Subscriptions 3,198 8,001 
Redemptions (484) (489) 

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year 10,226 7,512 

NAV per share as per financial statement GBP126.58 GBP108.41 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV GBP126.58 GBP108.47 

 
 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
Number of shares Class X1 Class X1 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the financial year 32,408 - 
Subscriptions 6,209 33,575 
Redemptions (1,301) (1,167) 

Shares in issue at the end of the financial year 37,316 32,408 

NAV per share as per financial statement GBP123.96 GBP107.27 

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV GBP123.96 GBP107.33 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Share Capital (Continued) 
 

Reconciliation of net asset value 
The Prospectus stipulates the amortisation of establishment and organisational expenses over a period of 60 months. In accordance with IFRSs, 
establishment and organisational expenses are expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year when they are incurred.  
 

The reconciliation between the net asset values of the Sub-Fund for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 is shown below: 
 

Classes  Class A Class A3 Class B Class B1 Class C Class X 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP 

NAV as per Dealing NAV  18,180,742 16,041,868 5,578,143 1,276,372 7,600,869 1,294,371 

        

Write off deferred organisation costs  - - - - - - 
        
NAV as per financial statement  18,180,742 16,041,868 5,578,143 1,276,372 7,600,869 1,294,371 

        

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV*  204.36 152.18 184.26 127.64 191.31 126.58 

        

Write off of deferred organisation costs  - - - - - - 
        
NAV per share as per financial statement*  204.36 152.18 184.26 127.64 191.31 126.58 

 

Classes Class X1 Total 

 GBP GBP 

NAV as per Dealing NAV 4,625,675 54,598,040 

   

Write off deferred organisation costs - - 
   
NAV as per financial statement 4,625,675 54,598,040 

   

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV* 123.96  

   

Write off of deferred organisation costs -  
   
NAV per share as per financial statement* 123.96  

 
 

 
The reconciliation between the net asset values of the Sub-Fund for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 is shown below: 
 

Classes  Class A Class A3 Class B Class B1 Class C Class X 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP 

NAV as per Dealing NAV  10,683,122 12,345,172 7,085,162 1,101,970 2,371,085 814,826 

        

Write off deferred organisation costs  (5,542) (6,404) (3,675) (781) (1,230) (423) 
        
NAV as per financial statement  10,677,580 12,338,768 7,081,487 1,101,189 2,369,855 814,403 

        

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV*  175.91 132.08 159.08 110.20 166.06 108.47 

        

Write off of deferred organisation costs  (0.09) (0.07) (0.08) (0.08) (0.09) (0.06) 
        
NAV per share as per financial statement*  175.82 132.01 159.00 110.12 165.97 108.41 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Share Capital (Continued) 
 
Reconciliation of net asset value (Continued) 
 

Classes Class X1 Total 

 GBP GBP 

NAV as per Dealing NAV 3,478,216 37,879,553 

   

Write off deferred organisation costs (1,804) (19,859) 
   
NAV as per financial statement 3,476,412 37,859,694 

   

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV* 107.33  

   

Write off of deferred organisation costs (0.06)  
   
NAV per share as per financial statement* 107.27  

 
 
The reconciliation between the net asset values of the Sub-Fund for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 is shown below: 
 

Classes Class A Class A2 Class A3 Class B Class B1 Class C Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP 

NAV as per Dealing NAV 4,159,426 367,766 12,144,597 2,558,714 993,345 1,660,418 21,884,266 

        

Write off deferred organisation costs (5,896) (521) (17,213) (3,627) (1,866) (2,353) (31,476) 
        
NAV as per financial statement 4,153,530 367,245 12,127,384 2,555,087 991,479 1,658,065 21,852,790 

        

NAV per share as per Dealing NAV* 149.59 104.15 113.41 135.69 93.99 142.82  

        

Write off of deferred organisation costs (0.22) (0.14) (0.16) (0.20) (0.18) (0.20)  
        
NAV per share as per financial statement* 149.37 104.01 113.25 135.49 93.81 142.62  

 
*NAV per share is in functional currency. 
 
All the share classes in the Sub-Fund are not hedged. 
 
4. Net gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 

 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 

 GBP GBP 

Realised gain/(loss) on investments 1,563,344 (548,616) 

Movement in unrealised gains on investments 4,905,376 5,814,841 

Net gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6,468,720 5,266,225 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

5. Other fees payable 
 

 As at 
31 December 21 

As at 
31 December 20 

 GBP GBP 

   

Taxes payable accrued 30,207 24,625 

Tax preparation fee payable 6,001 3,001 

License fee payable 8,566 4,430 

FATCA services fee payable 311 982 

Secretarial fees payable 286 546 

Accounting fee payable 250 477 

Registered office payable 142 271 

Apex connect service fee payable 214 - 

Oversight & monitoring services payable 2,490 - 

Total 48,467 34,332 

 
6. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
As at 

31 December 21 
As at 

31 December 20 

 GBP GBP 

   

Société Générale S.A. (Dublin Branch) 3,217,495 1,535,693 

Cash at depositary 3,217,495 1,535,693 

 
7. Other expenses 
 

 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 

 GBP GBP 

   

FATCA services fees 3,741 4,146 

Secretarial fees 3,440 3,289 

Accounting fees 3,010 2,878 

Bank charges 1,114 592 

Registered office 1,720 1,644 

Tax preparation fee 3,001 3,001 

Paying agent fee expense - 372 

Taxation expense 5,642 19,264 

License fee 12,175 5,877 

Oversight & monitoring services expense 2,400 - 

Insurance expense 96 - 

Apex connect service fee expense 1,720 - 

FCA Fee - Income 714 - 

Total 38,773 41,063 

 
8. Net Asset Value per Share  
 
The Net Asset Value of each Class of Shares within the ICAV is calculated by the Administrator as at the Valuation Point on or with respect to 
each Dealing Day in accordance with the Instrument of Incorporation. The Net Asset Value of the ICAV is equal to the Net Asset Value of all the 
sub-funds. The Net Asset Value attributable to a Class is determined as at the Valuation Point for the relevant Dealing Day by calculating that 
portion of the Net Asset Value of the ICAV attributable to the relevant Class subject to adjustment to take account of assets and/or liabilities 
attributable to that Class. The Net Asset Value of the ICAV is expressed in the functional currency of the ICAV and in such other currency as the 
Directors may determine either generally or in relation to a particular Class. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
8. Net Asset Value per Share (Continued) 
 
The Net Asset Value per Share is calculated as at the Valuation Point on or with respect to each Dealing Day by dividing the Net Asset Value of 
the relevant sub-fund or attributable to a Class by the total number of Shares in issue or deemed to be in issue in such sub-fund or Class at the 
relevant point of time by reference to which the assets of a sub-fund will be valued for the purposes of calculating the Net Asset Value per Share 
of the sub-fund as specified in the relevant Supplement (“Valuation Point“) and rounding the resulting total to 2 decimal places. 
 
9. Capital management 
 
The participating shares are considered to be the capital of the Sub-Fund. Any profits or gains would increase the capital of the Sub-Fund. Similarly, 
losses reduce the capital of the Sub-Fund. New investment subscriptions would increase the capital of the Sub-Fund. Redemptions would result 
in a decrease to the capital of the Sub-Fund. 
 
Significant increase to the capital of the Sub-Fund would result in an increase in the investment portfolio. Significant decreases to the capital of 
the Sub-Fund would result in the sale of investments held by the Sub-Fund. A forced sale of investments may not realise the fair value that is 
shown in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
The Sub-Fund’s objectives for managing capital are: 
▪ To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and expected return indicated in the ICAV Prospectus and Sub-

Fund Supplement. 
▪ To achieve returns while safeguarding capital by investing in a diversified portfolio of mainly listed equity securities by using various 

investment strategies.  
▪ To utilise foreign exchange contracts, including spot and forward contracts as indicated in the ICAV Prospectus and Sub-Fund Supplement. 
▪ To maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the day to day expenses of the Sub-Fund, and to meet redemption requests as they arise. 
 
The risk management policies and processes employed by the Sub-Fund in managing its capital is disclosed in Note 18 ‘Financial instruments and 
risk management’.  
 
10. Related party disclosures 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in 
making financial or operational decisions. All related parties transactions are conducted at arm’s length. As at 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020, James Rowsell and Timothy Gregory were directors of the ICAV and Vermeer Investment Management Limited respectively. As 
outlined in the Directors’ Report, James Rowsell and Timothy Gregory hold shares in the Sub-Fund at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 
 
Investment Manager – Vermeer Investment Management Limited 
Under the terms of the Management Agreement, Vermeer Investment Management Limited is entitled to the following fees, collectively referred 
to as an ‘Investment Management Fee’: 
 
Investment management fees 
 
The ICAV will pay the Investment Manager an investment management fee, out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, of up to 0.45% per annum of the 
Net Asset Value of Class A and Class A1, 0.25% per annum of the Net Asset Value of Class A2 and Class A3, 0.75% per annum of the Net Asset 
Value of Class B, Class B1, Class C and Class D accruing daily and payable monthly in arrears on the dealing day of each month. No investment 
management fee charged for Class X and Class X1. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the investment management fees incurred were:  
 

 For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 
 GBP GBP 

Investment management fees incurred 183,715 118,025 

 
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Investment Management Fee payable was: 
 

 
As at 

31 December 2021 
As at 

31 December 2020 

 GBP GBP 

Investment management fees payable 53,066 37,473 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. Related party disclosures (Continued) 
 
Investment management fees (Continued) 
 
The Investment Manager may from time to time and at its sole discretion and out of its own resources decide to pay rebates and/or retrocessions 
out of the investment management fee and/or the performance fee that it receives. 
 
The fee cap is capped at 1% of the Sub-Fund operating expenses and is limited to the fee’s paid to the Investment Manager, the Depositary, the 
Directors, the Auditor, the Administrator and any set up costs of the Sub-Fund. The fee cap may not be increased without the prior approval of 
shareholders. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the ICAV incurred rebate income from Investment Manager GBP 110,712 (31 December 2020: 
GBP 64,524) out of which GBP 48,550 (31 December 2020: GBP 29,038) were receivable at 31 December 2021. 
 
Manager’s Fees 
 
Effective 9 December 2021, the Sub-Fund has appointed Link Fund Manager Solution (Ireland) Limited as a Manager of the Sub-Fund. The 
Manager shall be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund an annual fee of up to 0.03% of the Fund’s Net Asset Value as per the previous 
Business Day, subject to a minimum fee of €3,000 per month, accrued on each Dealing Day based on the Net Asset Value of the Fund as per the 
previous Business Day and payable monthly in arrears (plus VAT, if any).  
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, Manager fees incurred were: 
 

 
For the financial  

year ended  
31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 
 GBP GBP 

Manager fees incurred 110 - 

 
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, Manager fees payable amounted to GBP Nil.  
 
Directors’ fees  
 
The Articles authorise that the Directors be entitled to a fee for remuneration of their services at a rate to be determined from time to time by 
the Directors. The Directors have determined that the maximum fee per Director shall not exceed EUR 15,000 per annum (excluding VAT, if any). 
James Rowsell and Timothy Gregory have waived their entitlement to directorship fees and accordingly, will not be paid a fee for their 
appointment as Directors to the ICAV. 
 
All Directors will be entitled to reimbursement by the ICAV of expenses properly incurred in connection with the business of the ICAV or the 
discharge of their duties. 
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, Directors’ fees incurred were: 
 

 For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 
 GBP GBP 

Directors’ fees incurred 37,117 4,886 

 
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, Directors’ fees payable amounted to GBP Nil: 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

11. Administration fees 
 

The Administrator shall be entitled to receive out of the assets of each Sub-Fund, an annual fee, accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears. 
The administration fees are calculated based on the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund ranging from 0.05% to a maximum fee of 0.1% of the  
Sub-Fund’s Net Asset Value and shall be subject to a minimum fee of EUR 4,000 per month.  
 

The Administrator will also be entitled to recover out of pocket expenses by way of a charge of 10% of the monthly administration fee. 
 

Financial statement preparation 
An annual fee of EUR 3,500 will be charged for the preparation of the financial statements for the Sub-Fund.  
 

Corporate secretarial services 
The Administrator will provide corporate secretarial services to the Sub-Fund at a fee of EUR 4,000 per annum. This fee is payable in advance. 
 

Registered Office Services  
The maintenance of the registered of the Sub-Fund at the offices of the Administrator including the display, at all times, of the name of the ICAV 
in satisfaction of their obligation under the Law will be provided to the ICAV at an annual fee of EUR 2,000 per annum. 
 

 For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 
 GBP GBP 

Administration fees incurred 52,200 43,407 
 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Administration fees payable were: 
 

 
As at 

31 December 2021 
As at 

31 December 2020 

 GBP GBP 

Administration fees payable 5,249 7,196 

 
12. Distributions  
 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the distribution amount paid to the C class shareholders was GBP 41,018 based on a dividend 
of GBP 1.032 per share (GBP 6,880 via Allfunds, GBP 4,764 via Platform Securities, GBP 507 via Aviva Client, GBP 10 via Hargreaves Lansdown, 
GBP 426 via Pershing Nominees Ltd, GBP 10,196 via Transact Nominees Ltd ,GBP 7 via Quilter life and pensions Limited, GBP140 via Rensburg 
client Nominees Ltd ,GBP 233 via Sterling ISA Mangers (Nominees) Ltd, GBP 5,466 via Fundsettle EOC (Nominees) Ltd and GBP12,389 via FIL 
Nominees.) A3 class shareholders was GBP 166,298 based on a dividend of GBP 1.557 per share (GBP 138,149 via Allfunds, GBP 595 via Guernroy 
Limited, GBP 15,830 via Clearstream Banking S.A. and GBP 11,724 via Pershing Nominees Ltd.) and X1 class shareholders was GBP 48,308 based 
on a dividend of GBP 1.29 per share (GBP 48,308 via FundSettle). These distributions were paid out 30 days after the end of the financial year. 
 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the distribution amount paid to the C class shareholders was GBP 19,922 based on a dividend  
of GBP 1.395 per share (GBP 9,278 via Allfunds, GBP 6,481 via Platform Securities, GBP 709 via Aviva Client, GBP 1 via Hargreves Lansdown, GBP  
72 via Platform Securities and GBP 3,381 via Transact Nominees Ltd.) A3 class shareholders was GBP 145,671 based on a dividend of GBP 1.559  
per share (GBP 131,806 via Allfunds, GBP 1,211 via Guernroy Limited, and GBP 12,654 via Clearstream Banking S.A.) and X1 class shareholders  
was GBP 7,615 based on a dividend of GBP 0.235 per share (GBP 7,615 via FundSettle). These distributions were paid out 30 days after the end  
of the financial year. 
 

13. Depositary – Societe Generale S.A. (Dublin Branch) 
 

Under the terms of the Depositary Agreement dated 11 November 2016, Societe Generale S.A. (Dublin Branch) is entitled to the following fees. 
The Depositary is entitled to receive a maximum trustee fee of 0.025% per annum of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund, accrued at each 
Valuation Point and is payable monthly in arrears. The Sub-Fund also pay custody fees ranging from 0.02% to a maximum of 0.04% calculated by 
reference to the value of the assets held in custody by the Depositary. The Depositary’s fees are accrued at each valuation point, payable monthly 
in arrears, and subject to a minimum charge of €2,500 per month. The Depositary is entitled to a cash flow monitoring fee of €2,000 per annum 
for the Sub-Fund and to charge sub-custody fees which shall be charged at normal commercial rates. The Depositary is also entitled to recover 
properly vouched out-of-pocket expenses out of the assets of the Sub-Fund (plus VAT thereon, if any), which shall include expenses of any sub-
custodian appointed by it. 
 

During the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, Depositary fees incurred were: 
 

 For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 
 GBP GBP 

Depositary fees incurred 55,039 40,334 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
13. Depositary – Societe Generale S.A. (Dublin Branch) (Continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the depositary fees payable were: 
 

 
As at 

31 December 2021 
As at 

31 December 2020 
 GBP GBP 

Depositary fees payable 10,902 9,387 
 

14. Commitments and contingencies 
 

There were no commitments or contingencies at the end of the financial years 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 
 

15. Taxation 
 

Under current law and practice the ICAV qualifies as an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, 
as amended. On that basis, it is not chargeable to Irish tax on its income or gains. 
 

However, Irish tax may arise on the happening of a "chargeable event". A chargeable event includes any distribution payments to shareholders, 
any encashment, redemption, cancellation or transfer of shares and the holding of shares at the end of each eight-year period beginning with 
the acquisition of such shares.  
 

No Irish tax will arise on the Sub-Fund in respect of chargeable events in respect of: 
(a) a shareholder who is neither Irish resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland for tax purposes, at the time of the chargeable event, provided 
appropriate valid declarations in accordance with the provisions of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, as amended, are held by the ICAV or the 
ICAV has been authorised by the Irish Revenue to make gross payments in the absence of appropriate declarations; and  
(b) certain exempted Irish tax resident shareholders who have provided the Sub-Fund with the necessary signed statutory declarations. 
 

Dividends, interest and capital gains (if any) received on investments made by the Sub-Fund may be subject to taxes imposed by the country 
from which the investment income/gains are received and such taxes may not be recoverable by the Sub-Fund or its shareholders. 
 

16. Soft commissions 
 

There were no soft commission arrangements affecting the ICAV during the financial period. The implementation of Directive 2014/65/EU on 
markets in financial instruments (“MiFID II”) resulted in the “unbundling” of research costs from execution costs within broker commissions. 
MiFID II allowed for the establishment of a Research Payment Account, is a specific research expense, charged to the Fund and controlled by the 
Investment Manager, for the procurement of investment research. The Investment Manager decided, in the interests of the ICAV’s shareholders, 
not to request the establishment of a Research Payment Account. 
 

17. Audit fees 
 

During the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the following audit fees were incurred (excluding VAT): 
 

 For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2021 

For the financial  
year ended  

31 December 2020 
 GBP GBP 

Statutory audit (excluding VAT) 8,067 12,883 
 

There were no other amounts paid in respect of other assurance services, tax advisory services or other non-audit services. 
 

18. Financial instruments and risk management 
 

The ICAV’s objective is to achieve superior long-term capital appreciation on behalf of the Sub-Fund. 
 

As an open ended self-managed investment ICAV the Sub-Fund holds a portfolio of financial assets in pursuit of its investment objectives. All of 
the ICAV’s financial instruments comprise listed equity securities, which are held to achieve its investment objective as well as debtors and 
creditors that arise from its operations. From time to time the Sub-Fund may make use of borrowings to meet redemptions. Such borrowing is 
limited to the Sub-Fund’s Net Asset Value and for short term/temporary purposes only. 
 

The primary responsibility of reviewing and monitoring of risk in the ICAV rests with the Directors but as part of its strategy, the Directors have 
appointed the parties listed on page 3. 
 

As part of monitoring risk on the Sub-Fund, global exposures are calculated using the commitment approach. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

18. Financial instruments and risk management (Continued) 
 

The risk management policies employed by the ICAV are discussed below: 
 

(a) Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty of a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has entered into with 
the Sub-Fund. The Investment Manager reviews the ongoing credit risk as part of the investment and monitoring process. 
 

The Investment Manager monitors the ICAV’s risk by establishing relationships with high quality financial institutions and initially reviewing the 
institution's risk management strategy and thereafter monitoring the credit worthiness of the counterparty. The Investment Manager would 
take appropriate action should the credit quality of the financial institution deteriorate significantly. 
 

The carrying amounts of financial assets best represent the maximum risk exposure at the end of the financial year. The following table lists the 
Sub-Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit risk. 

 
As at 

31 December 2021 
As at 

31 December 2020 

 GBP GBP 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 51,557,931 36,446,972 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,217,495 1,535,693 

Subscription receivable 148,351 104,253 

Dividends receivable 17,792 15,361 

Due from investment manager 48,550 29,038 

Total  54,990,119 38,131,317 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are held with Société Générale S.A. (Dublin Branch) (the “Depositary”). The Depositary is rated A (2020: A) as per 
Standard & Poor’s credit ratings. Non-cash assets are also held by the Depositary and are clearly recorded to ensure they are held on behalf of 
the Sub-Fund. Cash and cash equivalents and non-cash assets are held on a segregated basis from the proprietary assets of the Depositary. 
Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Depositary may cause the Sub-Fund’s rights with respect to the assets of the Sub-Fund held by the Depositary to 
be delayed.  
 

Due to the low credit risk of the financial assets at amortised cost, the Expected Credit Loss was determined to be immaterial and no impairment 

was recognised on the Sub-Fund in the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 
 
(b) Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Sub-Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.  
 

The Sub-Fund’s portfolio of investments is wholly made up of listed equity instruments on major stock exchange which are considered to be 
readily realisable. The Investment Manager is confident that such values reflect the fair value of these investments at the financial year end and 
that these investments are considered to be readily realisable. 
 

The Sub-Fund’s liquidity risk is managed on a regular basis by the Investment Manager in accordance with policies and procedures in place. The 
Sub-Fund’s redemption policy allows for redemptions on daily basis, with payment to be made within 5 Business Days and maximum of 10 
Business Days (if documentation is not adequately furnished to the Administrator) of the relevant redemption date. The Directors may suspend 
or defer redemptions and may delay redemption payments under certain circumstances.  
 

The ICAV maintains sufficient investments in readily realisable equity securities to pay accounts payable and accrued expenses. 
 

The maturity analysis below shows the Sub-Fund’s contractual financial liabilities at the end of the financial year. 

 

Maturity Analysis for non-derivative Financial Liabilities as at 31 December 2021 
 

 Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over No stated  

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year Maturity 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Non- derivative Financial Liabilities      

Redemption payable 3,192 - - - - 

Distribution payable 255,624 - - - - 

Accrued expenses 125,026 11,642 - - - 

Net assets attributable to holders of 
participating Shares 54,598,040 - - - - 

Total Non-Derivative Financial 
Liabilities 54,981,882 11,642 - - - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. Financial instruments and risk management (Continued) 
 
(b) Liquidity Risk (Continued) 
 

Maturity Analysis for non-derivative Financial Liabilities as at 31 December 2020 
 

 Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over No stated  

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year Maturity 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Non- derivative Financial Liabilities      

Distribution payable 173,208 - - - - 

Accrued expenses 88,388 10,027 - - - 

Net assets attributable to holders of 
participating Shares 37,859,694 - - - - 

Total Non-Derivative Financial 
Liabilities 38,121,290 10,027 - - - 

 
(c) Market risk  
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. 
 
The ICAV’s strategy on the management of investment risk is driven by the Sub-Fund’s investment objectives. The Sub-Fund’s market risk is 
managed on a regular basis by the Investment Manager in accordance with policies and procedures in place. Details of the ICAV’s investment 
portfolio at 31 December 2021 are disclosed in the Portfolio Statement on pages 16-18. 
 
(i) Price risk 

 
The Directors manage the market price risk inherent in the ICAV’s portfolio by ensuring full and timely access to relevant information from the 
Investment Manager. The Directors seek to ensure that an appropriate proportion of the Sub-Fund’s portfolio is invested in cash and readily 
realisable securities, which are sufficient to meet any funding commitments that may arise.  
 
The portfolio is managed with an awareness of the effects of adverse price movements. Major market exposures are aggregated in order to 
ascertain the key market risk exposures. 
 
The breakdown of the investment assets held by the Sub-Fund at fair value at the year end is included in the Portfolio Statement that appears 
on pages 16-18. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis – At the 31 December 2021, had the global equity markets strengthened by 5% with all other variables held constant, net 
assets attributable to holders of participating shares would have increased by GBP 2,577,897 (31 December 2020: GBP 1,822,349). 
 
A 5% weakening of the global equity markets against the above would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect. 
 
Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 
 
(ii) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. The Sub-Fund does not have a material exposure to interest rate risk at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 
 
(iii) Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. 
 
The Sub-Fund’s functional and presentational currency is GBP, but the Sub-Fund holds financial assets and financial liabilities in other currencies 
which can be significantly affected by currency translation movements. The Sub-Fund’s exposure to currencies other than GBP is listed in the 
table in the next page: 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. Financial instruments and risk management (Continued) 
 
(c) Market risk (Continued) 
 
(iii) Currency risk (Continued) 
 
Currency exposure as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 

 

As at 
31 December 2021 

As at 
31 December 

2020 

 % % 

CHF 5.10% 5.51% 

DKK 2.89% 3.32% 

EUR 13.85% 15.42% 

INR 2.62% 2.77% 

JPY 14.44% 14.40% 

SGD 1.35% 1.52% 

SEK 1.30% 1.37% 

USD 41.66% 40.95% 
 
The following tables set out the Sub-Fund’s total exposure to foreign currency risk and the net exposure to foreign currencies of non-monetary 
assets, non-monetary liabilities, monetary assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 
 

31 December 2021 Non-Monetary Monetary Non-Monetary Monetary Net Exposure 

 Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities  

 GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP 

      

CHF 2,786,660 - - - 2,786,660 

DKK 1,578,098 - - - 1,578,098 

EUR 7,563,951 44,926 - (46,968) 7,561,909 

INR 1,458,949  - (30,207) 1,428,742 

JPY 7,337,710 543,760 - - 7,881,470 

SGD 739,384 - - - 739,384 

SEK 708,250 - - - 708,250 

USD 22,216,325 527,105 - (228) 22,743,202 

Total 44,389,327 1,115,791 - (77,403) 45,427,715 

 
 

31 December 2020 Non-Monetary Monetary Non-Monetary Monetary Net Exposure 
 Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities  
 GBP GBP GBP GBP GBP 

      
CHF 2,084,703 - - - 2,084,703 
DKK 1,257,705 - - - 1,257,705 
EUR 5,796,783 75,068 - (33,317) 5,838,534 
INR 1,075,060 - - (24,625) 1,050,435 
JPY 5,405,748 46,748 - - 5,452,496 
SGD 573,975 - - - 573,975 
SEK 520,108 - - - 520,108 
USD 14,936,900 565,487 - - 15,502,387 

Total 31,650,982 687,303 - (57,942) 32,280,343 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
At the 31 December 2021, had the Sterling increased by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held constant, net assets 
attributable to holders of participating shares would have decreased by GBP 2,271,386 (31 December 2020: GBP 1,614,017).  
 
A 5% weakening of the Sterling against all currencies would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect. 
 
Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 



  VERMEER UCITS ICAV        

 

 

 38 
 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. Financial instruments and risk management (Continued) 
 
(c) Market risk (Continued) 
 
(iv) Fair values of financial instruments 
 
The ICAV uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique: 

- Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
- Level 2: those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 
- Level 3: those whose inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
All the Sub-Fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are traded in active markets and are based on quoted market prices. 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 all financial investments were held at their estimated fair value based on available market information. For other 
financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, administration fees payable and accounts payable, the carrying amounts are the  
approximate fair value due to the immediate or short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
 
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value 
hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount 
is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. Financial instruments and risk management (Continued) 
 
(c) Market risk (Continued) 
 
(iv) Fair values of financial instruments (Continued) 
 

 Carrying amount  Fair value 

31 December 2021 
Mandatorily at 
FVTPL - others 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost 

Other 
financial 
liabilities 

Total 
carrying 
amount  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP  GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value          
Equity securities 51,557,931 - - 51,557,931  51,557,931 - - 51,557,931 

  51,557,931 - - 51,557,931  51,557,931 - - 51,557,931 

Financial assets not measured at fair value          

Cash and cash equivalents - 3,217,495 - 3,217,495  3,217,495 - - 3,217,495 

Subscription receivable - 148,351 - 148,351  - 148,351 - 148,351 

Dividends receivable - 17,792 - 17,792  - 17,792 - 17,792 

Due from investment manager - 48,550 - 48,550  - 48,550 - 48,550 

  - 3,432,188 - 3,432,188  3,217,495 214,693 - 3,432,188 

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value          

Redemptions Payable - - 3,192 3,192  - 3,192 - 3,192 

Distribution payable - - 255,624 255,624  - 255,624 - 255,624 

Investment management fees payable - - 53,066 53,066  - 53,066 - 53,066 

Administration fees payable - - 5,249 5,249  - 5,249 - 5,249 

Audit fees payable - - 11,642 11,642  - 11,642 - 11,642 

Depositary fees payable - - 10,902 10,902  - 10,902 - 10,902 

Directors’ fees payable - - 4,344 4,344  - 4,344 - 4,344 

Legal fees payable - - 2,998 2,998  - 2,998 - 2,998 

Other fees payable - - 48,467 48,467  - 48,467 - 48,467 

  - - 395,484 395,484  - 395,484 - 395,484 

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year ended 31 December 2021. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. Financial instruments and risk management (Continued) 
 
(c) Market risk (Continued) 
 
(iv) Fair values of financial instruments (Continued) 
 

 Carrying amount  Fair value 

31 December 2020 
Mandatorily at 
FVTPL - others 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost 

Other 
financial 
liabilities 

Total 
carrying 
amount  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP  GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value          
Equity securities 36,446,972 - - 36,446,972  36,446,972 - - 36,446,972 

  36,446,972 - - 36,446,972  36,446,972 - - 36,446,972 

Financial assets not measured at fair value          

Cash and cash equivalents - 1,535,693 - 1,535,693  1,535,693 - - 1,535,693 

Subscription receivable - 104,253 - 104,253  - 104,253 - 104,253 

Dividends receivable - 15,361 - 15,361  - 15,361 - 15,361 

Due from investment manager - 29,038 - 29,038  - 29,038 - 29,038 

  - 1,684,345 - 1,684,345  1,535,693 148,652 - 1,684,345 

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value          

Distribution payable - - 173,208 173,208  - 173,208 - 173,208 

Investment management fees payable - - 37,473 37,473  - 37,473 - 37,473 

Administration fees payable - - 7,196 7,196  - 7,196 - 7,196 

Audit fees payable - - 10,027 10,027  - 10,027 - 10,027 

Depositary fees payable - - 9,387 9,387  - 9,387 - 9,387 

Other fees payable - - 34,332 34,332  - 34,332 - 34,332 

  - - 271,623 271,623  - 271,623 - 271,623 

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
19. Exchange rates 
 
The foreign exchange rates used in the preparation of the financial statements expressed as GBP are as follows: 
 

Currency  31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

    
Australian Dollar  0.5373 0.5628 
Swiss Franc  0.8104 0.8264 
Danish Krone  0.1130 0.1201 
Euro  0.8407 0.8940 
Hong Kong Dollar  0.0948 0.0944 
Indian Rupees  0.0099 0.0100 
Japanese Yen  0.0064 0.0071 
Norwegian Krone  0.0839 0.0854 
Singapore Dollar  0.5482 0.5537 
Swedish Krone  0.0817 0.0890 
United States Dollar  0.7390 0.7315 

 

20. Significant events during the financial year 

 
Director Damian Roddy resigned as of 9 April 2021. 
 
Certain material changes were made to the Prospectus of the ICAV including Supplement 2, which were issued on 9 December 2021. The 
material changes were the addition of Class D for investment and the removal of Class Z and Z1 for investment.  
 
Effective 9 December 2021, the Sub-Fund has appointed Link Fund Manager Solution (Ireland) Limited as a Manager of the Sub-Fund. 
 
There were no other significant events during the financial year. 
 

21. Significant events after the financial year 

On 24 February 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine, and while the ICAV has no direct exposure to these two markets, this may have a negative impact 
on the economy and business activity globally, including in the countries in which the ICAV invests into. The Directors assess that this could 
adversely affect the financial performance of the ICAV and its investments, or could have a significant impact on the industries in which the ICAV 
participates, and could adversely affect the operations of the Investment Manager, the ICAV and its investments. However, as it is difficult to 
quantify the risks and future impact to the ICAV, the Directors and the ICAV delegates are currently monitoring the situation to mitigate any risks 
which may evolve. 

Frank O’Riordan was appointed as Director of the ICAV on 1 January 2022. 

There were no other significant events after the financial year end. 

 
22. Approval of financial statements  
 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2022. 
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Appendix 1 
 
Disclosure of Remuneration- Link Fund Solutions (Ireland) Limited (Unaudited) 
 
 
 

 

Number of beneficiaries 
Fixed Variable Total  

(EUR) (EUR) (EUR)  

      

Total remuneration paid to staff of the Management Company during 
the 23 day period to 31 December 2021 

21 74,109 - 74,109  

      

Attributable to Vermeer UCITS fund  1,059 - 1,059  

     
 

Total amount of remuneration paid to members of staff whose activities have a material impact on the risk profile of the funds for the 23 day 
period ended 31 December 2021 
 

     
 

 

 
Fixed Variable Total  

(EUR) (EUR) (EUR)  

      

Senior Management (including executives)      

Risk Takers and other identified staff      

Any employees receiving total remuneration that takes them into the 
same remuneration bracket as senior management and risk takers 

     

Remuneration of employees whose actions have a material impact on 
the risk profile of the UCITS managed by the Management Company 

 - - -  
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Appendix 2 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN COMPOSITION OF PORTFOLIO FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 (UNAUDITED) 
 

Vermeer UCITS ICAV        

Top Purchases  Cost GBP   Top Sales  Proceeds GBP 

Oracle Corp  1,205,583  Bridgestone Corp  688,308 

BP Plc  1,063,797  AT&T Inc 661,998 

Burlington Store 1,003,983  Koninklijke Philips Electron 567,742 

Befesa SA  889,668  Varta AG 561,961 

Jp morgan Chase & Co 883,762  IPG Photonics Corp CMN 512,278 

Olympus Corp 742,192  Rio Tinto Plc 489,375 

Caterpillar Inc 682,552  Jp morgan Chase & Co 488,216 

Pinnacle Financial Partners 647,262  Vulcan Materials Co 468,340 

Schneider Electric SA  639,761  Burlington Store 454,389 

Compass Group Plc 627,072  Ciena Corp  441,411 

Bridgestone Corp  622,211  Lululemon Athletica Inc. CMN 428,870 

Amazon.Com Inc 596,935  Worldline SA 419,615 

Apple Inc 580,834  Orsted A/S 408,867 

Flutter Entertainment 528,938  Lafargeholcim Ltd-REG 406,521 

Cameco Corp  489,491  Nihon M&A Center Inc 398,146 

Varonis Systems Inc  487,619  Apple Inc 383,541 

Sika AG 402,828  Flutter Entertainment 369,767 

Obic Co., Ltd CMN 398,963  Carl Zeiss Meditec AG – BR 341,225 

Linde Plc  395,223  Pets At Home Group Plc  327,065 

Nvidia Corp  390,370  Befesa SA  294,533 

Shiseido Co Ltd. 380,551  Glaxosmithkline Plc 283,569 

Aveva Group Plc 343,769  Ferrari NV 228,865 

Havells India Ltd 306,989  Sika AG 129,371 

Roche Holding Ag-Genusschein (SW)  306,106  DBS Group Holdings Limited 128,931 

Henry Jack & Associates Inc 299,988  Shiseido Co Ltd. 114,884 

Toyota Motor Corp (JT) 290,152    

Cranswick Plc 282,923    

Deutsche Bank AG  278,026    

Asml Holding NV 270,137    

Zimmer Biomet Holdings Inc 270,101    

Ericsson LM SHS 237,347    

Ocado Group Plc 220,758   
 

United Parcel Service Inc 199,331   
 

   
  

     

     

 
The Material Portfolio Changes reflect the aggregate purchase/sales of a security exceeding one per cent of the total value of the purchase/sales 
for the financial year. 


